
18 September 2019

NOTICE OF MEETING

BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE

will meet on
Thursday, 26 September 2019

beginning at
6:00 pm

in the
Hamble Primary School, Hamble Lane, Hamble-le-Rice, SO31 4ND

TO: Councillor Tonia Craig (Chair)
Councillor Steve Holes (Vice-Chair)
Councillor David Airey Councillor Malcolm Cross
Councillor Adam Manning Councillor Jane Rich

Staff Contacts: Debbie Ames, Case Management Officer Tel: 023 8068 8429; 
Email: debbie.ames@eastleigh.gov.uk

Matt Blythe, Local Area Manager Tel:023 8068 8311;   Email: 
matt.blythe@eastleigh.gov.uk

GAETANA WISEMAN
Head of Performance and Governance 

_____________________________________________________________________

Copies of this and all other agendas can be accessed via the 
Council's website -

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk.
as well as in other formats, including Braille, audio, large print and 

other languages, upon request.

Members of the public are invited to speak on general items at the 
start of the meeting, and on individual agenda items at the time the 

item is discussed.  To register please contact the Democratic 
Services Officer above.

Please be aware that Eastleigh Borough Council permits filming, 
sound recording and photography at meetings open to the public, and  
Councillors will be using tablet devices to access committee papers.

Eastleigh House
 Upper Market Street
Eastleigh SO50 9YN

1

https://meetings.eastleigh.gov.uk/


2



AGENDA

1. Minutes of Previous Meeting    (Pages 5 - 10) 

To consider the minutes of the meeting held on 25/07/2019 . 

2. Apologies    

3. Chair's Announcements    

4. Public Participation    

5. Declarations of Interest     

Members are invited to declare interests in relation to items of business on the 
agenda.  Any interests declared will be recorded in the Minutes. 

6. Air Quality Report    (Pages 11 - 24)

7. Presentation on Planning Guidelines    

8. Planning Application- Sundays Hill Close, Bursledon Road, Hedge End SO30 0DA 
- F/19/86001    (Pages 25 - 34) 

Formation of gravel path inside site boundary to provide access to rear of terraced 
properties on plots 2 – 10. F/19/86011 

9. Planning Application - Land off the B397, Hound SO31 5FT - F/19/85302    (Pages 
35 - 46) 

Installation of battery standby energy facility consisting of 13No. structures within a 
compound surrounded by 2.4 metre high security fence. – F/19/85302
 

10. Planning Application - 30 Queens View, Netley Abbey SO31 5EA - F/19/85730    
(Pages 47 - 52) 

Retention of change of use from retail (Class A1) to cafe (Class A3). F/19/85730

 

11. Planning Application - Jenny's Cafe, High Street, Hamble-le-Rice SO31 4HA - 
F/19/86075    (Pages 53 - 62) 

Retention of rear outdoor customer area for cafe comprising  three level paved 
terrace, open sided gazebo, tables and chairs, storage shed and associated 
landscaping (retrospective application). F/19/86075
 

12. Planning Application - Fairport House, Lands End Road, Bursledon SO31 8DN - 
X/19/85436    (Pages 63 - 72) 

Removal of condition 2 and variation of condition 7 of application C/16/78768 to 

3



allow retention of partial change of use of ground floor of existing outbuilding to 
B1(a) office use. X/19/85436
 

13. Planning Appeal     

The Legal Services Manager to report:-

(a) that the following appeal has been dismissed:-

9 Hound Road, Netley Abbey, Southampton, SO31 5FZ

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for the 
construction of 1no. 3-bedroom detached dwelling with associated car 
parking and bin and cycle storage (F/18/84319).

This was a delegated decision.

 

Your Council’s electronic news service - e-news  -

Register your email address free with the Council and keep up to date with what’s 
happening in the Borough.  Simply select your topics and we will send you email 

updates with news as it happens including new Council Jobs, What’s On, Recycling, 
Transport plus lots more. www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews 

DATE OF NEXT MEETING
Thursday, 21 November 2019 at 6:00 pm
at Hamble Primary School, Hamble Lane, 

Hamble-le-Rice, SO31 4ND

4

http://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/enews


1

BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE

Thursday, 25 July 2019  (6:30 pm – 8:50 pm)

PRESENT:

Councillor Craig (Chairman); Councillors Holes, Airey, Cross and Manning

Also in attendance: Councillors  

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Rich

________________________________________

RESOLVED ITEMS (SUBJECT TO QUESTIONS ONLY)

15. MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING

RESOLVED

That the minutes of the meeting held on 13 June 2019 be approved as 
correct.

16. CHAIR'S ANNOUNCEMENTS

There were no Chair’s announcements on this occasion.

17. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION

There was no public participation on this occasion.

18. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda items 11, 12 
and 13, as he lives very close to the site.

19. ANNUAL UPDATE REPORT

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 6).

RESOLVED – that BHH the Committee noted the report.

20. REVENUE BUDGET PROJECTS

Consideration was given to the report of the Local Area Manager (Agenda 
Item 7). 

5

Agenda Item 1



2

Recommendations 1 – 2 were considered by the Committee. 

RESOLVED – that BHH the Committee approved the projects set out 
below:

(1) A £5000 grant from revenue reserves to Longoak Pre-School, 
Bursledon towards the running of the nursery.

(2) A £5000 repayable grant from revenue reserves to Longoak 
Pre-  School, Bursledon towards the running of the nursery.

21. APPOINTMENTS TO REGULATORY PANEL AND BURSLEDON 
WINDMILL JOINT MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

There were no changes to appointments of the regulatory panel and 
Bursledon Windmill Joint Committee. The appointments remain the same 
2018/19.

22. APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES

Resolved – The Committee made the following appointments to 
outside bodies:

 Bursledon and District Community Association Board – Cllr Craig
 Hamble Community Sports College Community Management 

Committee – Cllr Manning
 Hampshire Buildings Preservation Trust – Matt Blythe, Local Area 

Manager 
 Pilands Wood Community Association – Cllr Craig
 River Hamble Management Committee – Cllr Rich and Cllr Airey as 

deputy
 Solent Sea Rescue Organisation – Cllr Rich and Cllr Cross as 

deputy 
 Standing Conference on Problems Associated with the Coastline – 

Cllr Cross

23. PRESENTATION ON PLANNING GUIDELINES

The Head of Housing and Development gave a short presentation on 
guidelines that had to be taken into account when determining planning 
applications; in particular the issues that could, and could not, be taken 
into account.  This was set against the broader policy framework.

24. PLANNING APPLICATION - GE AVIATION,  KINGS AVENUE, HAMBLE-
LE-RICE, SO31 4NF - O/18/84191

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda item 11) concerning an application for outline 
application with all matters reserved (except means of access) for the 
construction of up to 148 residential dwellings (Use Class C3) with new 
vehicular access to Hamble Lane, alterations to Kings Avenue and 

6



3

Coronation Parade, new car parking for existing sports facilities, 
employment use and residential properties, landscaping, improvements to 
existing bowls and football facilities on site and other associated works. 
Demolition of non-original extensions to Sydney Lodge (Grade II* Listed 
Building) and redundant factory buildings. (Ref: O/18/84191).

The Committee decided to hear this agenda item at the beginning of the 
meeting, due to the late start. 

The Committee was updated:  

 MP objection – congestion, amenity, infrastructure, ecology, air 
quality, location of Gnat

 35% affordable housing now proposed with 50% split between 
Affordable Rented and Share Ownership.

 Borough Ecologist raises no objection on impact on protected 
species

 2 additional letters of objection raising issues of traffic congestion, 
impact on emergency services, lack of health facilities, loss of 
cricket pitch, viability issues are a red herring, pressure on local 
green space

Additional / Amended condition
 The development here by approved shall not be occupied or 

brought in to use until the access is constructed broadly in 
accordance with dwg 17055-00-144. Reason: In the interest of 
highway safety. 

 Conditions 6 – 13 to be worded to allow phased discharge and 
implementation

RESOLVED -

That the decision be DEFERED to allow outstanding matters to be 
resolved.  

(NOTES: Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda 
items 11, 12 and 13, as he lives very close to the site.

Eight people spoke in objection to the application, citing concerns 
including air quality, traffic congestion, road safety, insufficient school 
places, overstretched doctor’s surgeries, lack of sustainable transport 
links, such as cycle routes, relocation of the sports facilities outside 
Hamble Peninsula, development within the countryside contrary to the 
local plan, negative impact on current residents, the design of road 
network and site, public transport capabilities and emergency services 
access. Three people spoke in support to the application). 

7



4

25. PLANNING APPLICATION - SYDNEY LODGE-GE AVIATION,  KINGS 
AVENUE, HAMBLE LE RICE, SO31 4NF - F/18/84621

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda item 12) for the consideration of demolition of 
single storey former extensions and warehouse building and construction 
of single storey rear extension; formation of flat roofed glazed atrium 
extension, new external wrought iron staircase with railings, new raised 
terrace, low level wall and rebuild historic wall to raise garden with 
landscape frontage and alterations to openings and windows. Removal of 
internal non-original partition walls and formation of spiral staircase, 
changing cubicles and false ceiling over toilet block (Ref: F/18/84621).

The Committee was updated:  

 Ecologist – no objection 
 Historic England – detailed comments awaited.

RESOLVED –

That subject to consideration of Historic England comments in 
consultation with the Chair & Vice Chair to delegate the decision to 
Permit to the Head of Housing and Development.

(NOTES: Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda 
items 11, 12 and 13, as he lives very close to the site).

26. PLANNING APPLICATION - SYDNEY LODGE-GE AVIATION,  KINGS 
AVENUE, HAMBLE LE RICE, SO31 4NF - L/19/85126

The Committee considered the report of the Head of Housing and 
Development (Agenda item 13) concerning an application for the Listed 
Building Consent for demolition of single storey former extensions and 
warehouse building and construction of single storey rear extension; 
formation of flat roofed glazed atrium extension, new external wrought iron 
staircase with railings, new raised terrace, low level wall and rebuild 
historic wall to raise garden with landscape frontage and alterations to 
openings and windows. Removal of internal non-original partition walls and 
formation of spiral staircase, changing cubicles and false ceiling over toilet 
block (Ref: . L/19/85126).

The Committee was updated:  

 Historic England – detailed comments awaited.

RESOLVED – 

8



5

That subject to consideration of Historic England comments in 
consultation with the Chair & Vice Chair to delegate the decision to 
Grant Listed Building Consent to the Head of Housing and 
Development.

(NOTES: Councillor Cross declared a non-pecuniary interest in agenda 
items 11, 12 and 13, as he lives very close to the site).

27. PLANNING APPEALS

The Head of Legal Services reported:-

(a) that the following appeals had been lodged:

Land at the corner of Peewit Hill and West End Road, 
Bursledon,
Southampton. SO31 8BL.
Appeal against enforcement notice for siting of a container 
without planning permission.

Myrtle Cottage, Lands End Road, Bursledon. SO31 8DN.
Appeal against councils refusal of planning permission for two 
storey rear extension with glass link to existing cottage 
(H/18/84112 & L/18/84136).

This was a delegated decision.

9 Hound Road, Netley Abbey, Southampton, SO31 5FZ

Appeal against the Council's refusal of planning permission for 
the
construction of 1no. 3-bedroom detached dwelling with 
associated car parking and bin and cycle storage (F/18/84319).

This was a delegated decision.

(b) that the following appeals had been dismissed:

Appeal against the decision of Eastleigh Borough Council to 
change of use from C2 Residential Care Home to a D1 
Registered Nursery and the addition of an attached C3 Flat at 
Hilltop, West End Road, Bursledon. The application (Ref 
F/18/83038) dated 24 April 2018, was refused by notice dated 
25 September 2018.

This was an LAC decision.

RESOLVED -

9



6

That the report be noted.

M6500

10



BURSLEDON, HAMBLE-LE-RICE AND HOUND LOCAL AREA 
COMMITTEE 

Thursday, 26 September 2019 

AIR QUALITY UPDATE

Report of the Environment Lead Specialist

Recommendations

It is recommended that the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area 
Committee:

(1) notes the update concerning Air Quality in Bursledon,Hamble-le-Rice and 
Hound (BHH) provided;

(2) notes the progress on formulating the new Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP); 
and

(3) retrospectively approves the Order which extends the Hamble Lane Air 
Quality Management Area (AQMA).

Summary

Eastleigh Borough Council has a statutory duty to monitor air quality and produce an Air 
Quality Action Plan for the four declared Air Quality Management Areas, one of which is 
within the Bursledon, Hamble-le-Rice and Hound Local Area Committee (BHH LAC) Area.

This report gives an update on monitoring results, summarises key activities in air quality 
management and presents evidence for the extension of the Hamble Lane Air Quality 
Management Area.

Statutory Powers

Environment Act 1995 Part IV Section 83(2)

EU Directive 2008/50/EC, transposed into The Air Quality Standards Regulations 2010 in 
the UK.

Strategic Implications 

1. The impacts of poor air quality and the action needed to tackle it touch upon 
many of the Council’s corporate objectives.  This cross-cutting issue is led by 
the Cabinet member for Transport as part of the Council’s ‘Tackling 

11

Agenda Item 6



Eastleigh Borough Council

congestion’ objective. Council objectives around Health, Environment and 
Economy & Housing are all impacted by this issue, including ‘Excellent 
environment for all’ and ‘Enabling healthier lifestyles’.

Introduction

2. This report includes background information on local air quality management 
in Eastleigh Borough, data from monitoring stations in the Bursledon, Hamble-
le-Rice and Hound (BHH) Local Area and an update with progress on the new 
Air Quality Action Plan (AQAP).  It also presents the evidence used in 
extending the Hamble Lane Air Quality Management Area (AQMA).

3. The data presented has been finalised1 up to 2018.  Some provisional2 data 
for 2019 is also included, but as this only covers a partial year and has not yet 
been corrected, this is indicative only.  These annual averages are used to 
examine trends over the last eight years.

The Local Air Quality Management Process

4. All local authorities have a duty to review and assess both current and future 
air quality in their area.  Areas which are likely to exceed pollutant objectives 
must be designated as an AQMA and an AQAP produced.  Objective levels 
have been set to apply at locations where members of the public risk 
exposure, including residential properties, schools and hospitals.

5. Hamble Lane AQMA is one of the Borough’s four AQMAs and is located in the 
BHH Local Area.  This AQMA was declared on the basis of exceedance of the 
UK nitrogen dioxide (NO2) objective value, which is an annual average of 
40µgm-3.  Results and measures discussed focus on this value.  The primary 
cause of the exceedance of the limit value is exhaust emissions from road 
vehicles.  NO2 is also often measured as nitrogen oxides (NOx) when 
analysing emissions.  Actions to tackle this will also help to reduce fine 
particulate matter (PM2.5) and coarse particulate matter (PM10), concentrations 
of which meet current Government targets but which also contribute to 
adverse health impacts from road traffic.

Monitoring in the BHH Local Area

6. Monitoring of NO2 in the BHH Local Area is carried out by diffusion tubes.  
These provide monthly readings which are used to calculate an annual 
average which is compared to the objective level.  A map detailing diffusion 
tube locations is shown in Appendix 1.

7. Trends have been examined at sites which have been monitored for more 
than five years, see Figure 1 which shows the annual results for sites on 
Hamble Lane since 2012.  Trends are assessed over many years so that 

1 Finalised data has been bias corrected using the DEFRA approved method.  If a site only has data for a partial 
year it is annualised, so all results can be assessed against the annual objective value. 
2 Provisional data does not cover a full calendar year and has had an estimated bias adjustment applied.  These 
results are subject to change when a full year of data has been collected and the most up to date bias correction 
factor is available.

12



Eastleigh Borough Council

fluctuations caused by weather conditions, which affect the annual averages, 
can be taken into account.  Concentrations did initially fall but this trend has 
now slowed, and in the case of Hamble Lane 2 a possible increase in NO2 
levels over the last few years is seen.  At this site the 2017 result was the 
highest since 2012.  This information shows that further intervention and 
ongoing management of this AQMA is required. 

Figure 1- Annual average nitrogen dioxide for Hamble Lane monitoring sites.

Hamble Lane AQMA Extension

8. As part of the Council’s ongoing work reviewing air quality across the Borough 
two additional monitoring tubes were deployed on the A27, near to the 
existing Hamble Lane AQMA, in 2016.  One of these, located near to the 
Dodwell Lane junction, was found to exceed the annual average objective for 
NO2.  As a result of this one further tube was added in 2017, near a house 
façade in this area, to include a location more representative of exposure.  
See Appendix 1 for the location of these tubes.

9. Results from these tubes, including provisional values for this year, are shown 
in Figure 2.  They confirm elevated levels of NO2 over a several years, 
indicating a sustained issue.  They also show an exceedance of the annual 
objective value at the site Oak Hill 2 for two consecutive years in 2017-18.  
Using these measurements to calculate NO2 levels at nearby relevant 
receptors shows that there is an exceedance of the annual objective value at 
the nearest house façade. 

13



Eastleigh Borough Council

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

Oak Hill Oak Hill 2 Bridge Road

N
O

2
An

nu
al

 A
ve

ra
ge

 (µ
gm

-3
)

A27 Bursledon

2016 2017 2018 2019 Annual Objective

Figure 2- Annual average nitrogen dioxide for A27 monitoring sites.  2019 
data is provisional.

10. The current exceedance and its likely continuation, along with the potential for 
relevant exposure, means the Council are required to include the location in 
an AQMA.  To determine the extent of this further tubes were installed in 2019 
(see Appendix 1).  Initial results from this investigation, shown in Figure 3, 
confirm that the exceedance is not confined to the areas around the Dodwell 
Lane junction but is found both above and below this part of the A27.  This 
information has informed the decision on the extent of the new AQMA, which 
includes the Windhover roundabout and the A27 from the Windhover 
roundabout south east to the Borough boundary with Fareham (see Appendix 
2).

11. The highest NO2 concentrations have been measured on the A27, but the 
number of vehicles using this road is significantly lower than on Hamble Lane 
(see Appendix 3).  This suggests that other issues such as congestion on the 
A27 and local topography are important contributing factors to the 
exceedance measured. 

14



Eastleigh Borough Council

34.26 25.64

42.58

28.15

21.84

37.37

25.75

50.05

25.49 49.79

23.69

32.31

Figure 3- May to July 2019 average at sites on the A27.  Results are for a 
partial year and bias adjustment factors have been estimated, so 

concentrations measured are indicative only.

12. The adjacency to an existing AQMA and the fact that the roads of interest 
form part of the same road network, linked by the Windhover roundabout, led 
to the decision to extend the existing Hamble Lane AQMA rather than to 
declare an additional separate AQMA for the A27.  This approach also makes 
it clearer for interested parties to see a single administrative area covering 
both roads and the roundabout.  The Hamble AQMA has been renamed to 
reflect the wider area is now covers, as shown in Appendix 2.  

13. In order for the current AQAP consultation process to cover the extended 
Hamble Lane Area AQMA and to keep it aligned with the other AQMAs in the 
Borough, the amended Order had to be submitted to the Department for 
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) before the consultation start 
date of 2 September 2019.  The amendment to the Hamble Lane AQMA 
Order was approved by the Council Executive under a delegated decision and 
was completed on 30 August 2019.

The Air Quality Action Plan

14. Following declaration of an AQMA an AQAP must be produced within 12 
months, containing measures aiming to bring levels of air pollution under the 
objective values.  There are currently three adopted AQAPs that cover the 
existing AQMAs. These plans set out actions and initiatives that are both 
targeted to the local area and Borough-wide schemes.  All of these are due for 

15



Eastleigh Borough Council

review and the Council is taking this opportunity to align the AQAPs into a 
single Borough-wide plan.  The extended Hamble Lane Area AQMA is 
included in this process and the plan will include targeted actions aimed at 
improving air quality on the A27.  

15. A draft of this new Borough-wide AQAP has been prepared and is open to 
public consultation from 2 September – 11 October 2019: 
https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/airquality

16. Emissions from road transport are the most significant contributor to NO2 
levels, therefore the actions in the AQAP are mainly focussed on reducing 
NO2 levels by reducing vehicle emissions and encouraging active travel.  
Appendix 3 shows data on traffic volumes, composition and the contribution of 
different vehicle types to NOx emissions.  This can be used to further assess 
possible causes of the exceedances seen in this area and inform the choice of 
actions.

17. Changes in traffic volume from 2008 to 2018 on each road do not show 
significant deviations from the national average, but the slight drop in vehicle 
numbers on Hamble Lane is not reflected in the NO2 concentrations which 
suggests this is not the only important factor.  Traffic composition and source 
apportionment data highlights the different contribution to emissions from 
each vehicle type, for example HGVs make up a small proportion of the traffic 
numbers but contribute a much larger proportion of NOx emissions. 

18. Information such as this is very helpful for identifying the actions which will be 
most effective in improving air quality.  More detailed specific and localised 
information on the traffic make up and vehicle age profiles on the local road 
network in the area will further inform this work, therefore commissioning 
studies to obtain this information has been included in the AQAP.

19. Targeted, local actions for the Hamble Lane Area AQMA include:

(a) Further study to learn more about the proportion of different vehicles by 
age and type on Hamble Lane and the A27

(b) Liaise with neighbouring authorities on their activities on the A27

(c) Work to increase the number of people using Hamble, Netley and 
Bursledon railway stations

(d) Investigate expanding Co-Wheels electric vehicle locations to Hamble

(e) Consider potential locations and funding sources to install electric 
vehicle charging points

(f) Highway improvements for Hamble Lane, M27 Junction 8 and 
Windhover Roundabout

(g) Improve air circulation along Hamble Lane and the A27 through the 
management of trees

16

https://www.eastleigh.gov.uk/airquality


Eastleigh Borough Council

Many of the overarching Borough-wide actions will also have impacts on the 
BHH Local Area.

20. It should be noted that the AQAP includes a mixture of funded projects, longer 
term aspirations where resources are not yet in place and schemes that 
require commitment from other public and private sector organisations.

21. Annual progress updates against the AQAP will be given to the BHH LAC.

Financial Implications

22. The AQAP consultation is being carried out through existing budgets and 
available resource.

23. Any actions identified in the new AQAP that require additional funding for 
delivery will be taken to the relevant LAC or Cabinet for approval.  Where 
possible Eastleigh Borough Council will work in partnership to deliver these 
and will take every opportunity to secure additional funding that is made 
available through grant funds.

Risk Assessment

24. The AQAP will ensure that the Council takes a managed approach to Air 
Quality by identifying the most effective actions and targeting priority 
locations.  Progress against the AQAP will be reported annually, to both LACs 
and Cabinet, and the actions reviewed and updated when necessary to 
ensure they remain relevant to Council priorities and activities.

Equality and Diversity Implications

25. The Equality Act is relevant to this report as it relates to addressing an issue 
that, although it has an impact on all residents, can disproportionately affect 
the most vulnerable in society such as children and people with health issues.  
A full Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out as it is not 
proportionate at this stage.  An EIA will be carried out as part of the new 
AQAP consultation and decision process.  

Conclusion

26. Eastleigh Borough Council continues to monitor air pollution levels in the BHH 
Local Area and work towards delivering improvements in air quality.

27. The Hamble Lane AQMA has been extended to cover areas of exceedance 
measured on the A27 in Bursledon.

28. The preparation of a new AQAP will be instrumental in setting the Council’s 
programme of work for improving air quality. 

ISABEL HESSEY
POLLUTION CONTROL OFFICER

17



Eastleigh Borough Council

Date: 02 SEPTEMBER 2019
Contact Officer: Isabel Hessey 
Tel No: 02380 683356
e-mail: isabel.hessey@eastleigh.gov.uk
Appendices Attached: 1- BHH Monitoring Locations

2- Hamble Lane Area AQMA Location
3- Traffic Data

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972 - SECTION 100D

The following is a list of documents which disclose facts or matters on which this 
report or an important part of it is based and have been relied upon to a material 
extent in the preparation of this report. This list does not include any published works 
or documents which would disclose exempt or confidential information.

Background Papers - None.

18



Appendix A- Northern BHH Monitoring Locations

2012
2016
2017

2019
2018

Tube Start Date

HL

HL2

HL3

PH1 PH3

PH2

PMR

OH3

OH

DOD

OH2

OH4 BDG2

BDG

CHR

19



This page is intentionally left blank



2019

Appendix B- Hamble Lane Area AQMA 2006-2019

2006 2011

21



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C- Traffic Data for Hamble Lane & A27

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

30000

Hamble Lane A27

An
nu

al
 A

ve
ra

ge
 D

ai
ly

 T
ra

ffi
c 

Fl
ow

2008

2009

2010

2011

2012

2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

Annual average daily traffic flows on Hamble Lane and the A27, 2008 – 2018.
Data source: roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

2006 2008 2010 2012 2014 2016 2018 2020

An
nu

al
 V

eh
ic

le
 M

ile
s

An
nu

al
 A

ve
ra

ge
 D

ai
ly

 T
ra

ffi
c 

Fl
ow

Year

Hamble Lane A27 National Average

Annual average daily traffic flows from 2008 – 2018, normalised to start at 100.  
Hamble Lane & A27 data source: roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk

National average data source: ‘Road Traffic Estimates: Great Britain 2018’- Statistical 
Release from Department for Transport - 14th May 2019

23



8%

43%

20%

24%

5%

Hamble Lane- Source Apportionment
0.2%

37.2%

31.7%

12.4%

2.4%
0.1% 1.0%

Hamble Lane- Traffic Composition

10%

47%19%

20%

4%

A27- Source Apportionment
0.2%

36.5%

31.1%

14.1%

1.7%
0.3%

1.5%

A27- Traffic Composition

Hamble Lane- Traffic Composition

Cars (electric) Cars (petrol) Cars (diesel) LGVs HGVs Buses & Coaches Motorcycles

  

Composition of road traffic on Hamble Lane and the A27 and contribution of different vehicle 
types to NOx emissions.  

Traffic composition data source: roadtraffic.dft.gov.uk
Source apportionment data source:  ‘Air Quality Impact Assessment for the Eastleigh 

Borough Local Plan: Addendum 1 – Updates and 2020 Model Results’ -  
Ricardo/ED11692101/Issue Number 1 - 21st May 2019

24



Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee – Thursday 26 
September 2019

Application Number: F/19/86011
Case Officer: David Huckfield
Received Date: 04/07/2019
Site Address: Sundays Hill Close, Bursledon Road, Hedge End, SO30 0DA
Applicant: Metis Homes Limited
Proposal: Formation of gravel path inside site boundary to provide 

access to rear of terraced properties on plots 2 - 10.
Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS:

(1) The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in 
accordance with the following plans numbered: 3127-P-09.           
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper 
planning.

 
(2) The construction of the footpath shall accord with the measures set out 

within the supporting correspondence from Eco Urban Limited dated 22 
May 2019. Reason: In the interests of protecting the health and stability 
of adjacent trees. 

(3) Within 1 month of the date of this decision, the gate providing access to 
the footpath shall be fitted with a secure lock and a self-closing 
mechanism which is designed such that the gate locks on closure and, 
the gate shall thereafter be maintained in that condition. Reason: In the 
interests of security and crime prevention. 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a 
positive approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, 
whenever possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt 
with in a timely manner.

Report:

1. This application has been referred to Committee at the request of local 
Ward members.

Description of application

2. The application seeks approval for the provision of a gravel footpath to 
provide rear access to the terraced dwellings on plots 2 to 10 Sundays Hill 
Close, with access otherwise only being available through the properties 
themselves. The path is 1m in width and is gravel surfaced with it being 

25

Agenda Item 8



bound by 1.8m high close-boarded timber fencing to either side. The 
entrance to the pathway is from the southern side of the access road into 
Sundays Hill Close, with this being by way of a keypad accessible 
lockable timber gate mounted on metal posts. The path runs parallel with 
and has been set inside the rear boundary of the private amenity areas of 
plots 2 to 9, with it terminating at the northern boundary of plot 10. At the 
time of writing, the works had already been completed on site. 

The site and its surroundings

3. The application site comprises of a recent housing development of 12no. 
dwellings situated to the eastern side of Bursledon Road on a site that 
was formerly occupied by two bungalows, ‘Brackenwood’ and ‘Long View’. 
The development is formed of 3 detached and 9 terraced dwellinghouses, 
with the proposed development being situated to the rear of the latter row 
of properties, inside what was their western boundary. 

Relevant planning history

4. As noted above, the application relates to a development scheme for the 
construction of 12no. dwellings which was granted planning permission in 
2017 under the following planning application:

 F/16/79326 - Long View, Bursledon Road, Hedge End, Southampton 
SO30 0DA – Erection of 12no. dwellings (3no. 4-bed and 9no. 3-bed 
houses) with access from Bursledon Road and associated parking, 
landscaping and engineering works, following demolition of existing 
dwellings (Long View and Brackenwood). – Approved 22 March 
2017.

Representations Received

5. 3 letters of representation have been received in relation to the 
application, comprising of 2 letters of objection and one letter seeking 
clarification on the positioning of the footpath relative to the approved 
boundary line. 

The letters of objection were received from the occupiers of properties 
along Bursledon Road which back onto the site and border the route of 
the footpath. The matters of objection are as follows:

 Security risks resulting from the provision of the footpath in the 
location proposed including the allowing of access to the rear of the 
neighbouring dwellings, the potential for the gate to be left open 
and the key code to not be changed frequently moving forward. 

 Noise and disturbance generated by the location of the path, the 
opening and closing of the gate and from the gravel surface.

 The provision of the path should have been thought about prior to 
building the properties. 

26



 Anti-social behaviour and other social issues including littering, 
vagrancy and the footpath providing an area for drug misuse. 

Consultation Responses

6. Hedge End Town Council – No objection. 

7. Tree Officer – No objection providing the path is constructed in 
accordance with the arboricultural details provided. 

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within designated countryside (Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2001-
2011).

Legislative provisions, development plan saved policies, and emerging 
local plan policies

Legislative provisions:

8. Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 
38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local 
planning authority determining an application to do so in accordance with 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The Development Plan

9. At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises of 
the Saved Policies within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-
2011) and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013).

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011

10. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 (the adopted Local 
Plan) was adopted in May 2006. In November 2008, the Council 
submitted a list of proposed Saved Policies to the Secretary of State with 
a request that they be saved until they could be replaced by a new Local 
Development Framework. The following policies were saved and are 
considered to be of relevance to the development proposals: Saved Policy 
59.BE (promoting good design).

Emerging Local Plan Policies

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014:

11. The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for 
examination in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient 
housing was being provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  
While this has not been withdrawn and remains a material consideration, 

27



it can therefore be considered to have extremely limited weight in the 
determination of this application. 

The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036:

12. Following The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 being 
found unsound, the Council has prepared the Emerging Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2016-2036. The Plan has been subject to public 
consultation (Regulation 19), the period for which ran from 25 June until 8 
August 2018, and has subsequently been submitted to the Secretary of 
State for examination (on 31 October 2018) with hearings scheduled to 
commence in November 2019. 

13. Within this plan, the site is allocated for residential development under the 
provisions of Policy DM24 and falls within the realigned urban edge. The 
other relevant policies of the Submitted Local Plan essentially echo the 
requirements of those of the adopted local plan as listed above and are 
not therefore considered to effect the recommendation put forward.

National Planning Policy 

14. At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Practice 
Guidance provides additional guidance in support of the Framework and 
should be afforded weight in the consideration of planning applications.

Supplementary Planning Documents and Associated Guidance of 
Material Relevance

 Quality Places SPD
 Secured by Design Homes 2019, Version 2 March 2019

Assessment of Proposal

Principle of development

15. Under Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 
and paragraph 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework, the 
application must be determined in accordance with the Development Plan 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

16. The Development Plan is, therefore, the starting point for the 
consideration and determination of this application. As noted above, this 
comprises of the Saved Policies within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 
Review 2001-2011 (adopted May 2006) and the application must be 
assessed against those that are relevant to the proposals.

17. Within the adopted Local Plan, the application site lies within designated 
countryside where the basic principle of residential development is 

28



considered to be unacceptable. The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan 2016-2036 however allocates the site for residential development 
under the provisions of Policy DM24 in recognition of planning permission 
having been granted for 12no. dwellings on the land, with this 
development, which now comprises of Sundays Hill Close, being 
proposed to be subsumed into a realigned urban edge. The development 
is also now virtually complete and is partially occupied and therefore the 
proposals are considered to represent an alteration to an existing 
residential development. The principle of the development proposed in 
this location is, therefore, considered to be acceptable. 

18. Any planning approval, however, is subject to the particular proposal put 
forward being deemed to be appropriate and to accord with the relevant 
local and national planning policy provisions in other respects. 

Layout, impact on the character of the area and amenity

19. Saved Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan requires that development 
takes full and proper account of the context of the site including the 
character and appearance of the locality, that it is appropriate in a number 
of regards including its layout and siting, and that it avoids unduly 
impacting upon the amenity of neighbouring uses. These policies are 
considered to be consistent with the provisions of Sections 11 and 12 of 
the NPPF which include requirements for planning decisions to take into 
account, amongst other things, the desirability of maintaining an area’s 
prevailing character and the importance of securing well-designed, 
attractive and healthy places (paragraph 122). In addition paragraph 124 
emphasises that good design is a key aspect of sustainable development 
and paragraph 127 sets out that decisions should ensure that 
development will function well and add to the overall quality of the area, is 
sympathetic to local character and achieves a high standard of amenity 
for existing and future users.

20. The provision of the footpath is considered to be appropriate in siting and 
layout with it being positioned to the rear of the properties on plots 2 to 9, 
such as to meet its functional purpose of providing direct pedestrian 
access to the rear gardens of these dwellings as well as that of plot 10, 
negating the need for residents to go through the property itself with grass 
cuttings, garden waste, etc. The boundary treatment which borders the 
footpath and is in the form of 1.8m high close-boarded fencing and a 
timber gate is also considered to be visually appropriate and, given the 
positioning of the footpath, it will have very limited impact on the character 
of the residential development that it will serve or upon that of the wider 
surrounding area. 

21. In terms of amenity related considerations, whilst the provision of the 
footpath will serve to reduce the extent of the rear garden areas of plots 2 
to 9 by approximately 1m, these properties will still retain sufficient usable 
private amenity space of an appropriate depth and which is in excess of 
the requirements of the Council’s Quality Places SPD in terms of its area. 

29



The aforementioned timber fencing which runs along the length of either 
side of the footpath is of a sufficient height to prevent any undue 
overlooking into neighbouring gardens from those utilising it. 

22. Finally, whilst the comments of neighbouring occupiers are noted in terms 
of the potential for noise to be generated from users of the footpath 
moving up and down it in combination with the gravel surfacing as well as 
from the opening and closing of the gate, owing to the low level and 
transient nature of such movements it is not considered that any such 
impacts in terms of disturbance would be significant or notably materially 
greater than the alternative use of this space as the private garden areas 
of the properties that it will serve, nor would they be unreasonable or 
indeed unusual in an established residential area. The gravel surfacing is 
also necessitated to ensure that there will be no adverse impact on 
adjacent trees as set out in the section on ‘trees’ below. 

23. The application is considered to comply with the requirements of Saved 
Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan in respect of its layout, impact on 
the character of the area, and amenity. 

Security and crime prevention considerations  

24. Saved Policy 59.BE (vii.) of the adopted Local Plan states that new 
development should reduce the potential for criminal activity and anti-
social behaviour by the use of appropriate design. Paragraphs 91 and 127 
of the NPPF require that planning decisions should aim to achieve 
healthy, inclusive and safe places, which, amongst other things, are safe 
and accessible, so that crime and disorder, and the fear of crime, do not 
undermine the quality of life or community cohesion. Additionally, the 
document ‘Secured by Design Homes 2019, Version 2 March 2019’ has 
been produced for local planning authorities and developers as part of a 
Police Crime Prevention Initiative, with this providing guidance on crime 
reduction methodologies for the external environment. 

25. As set out earlier in this report, two letters of objection have been received 
from the adjoining occupiers of existing dwellings along Bursledon Road 
whose properties border the footpath to their respective rear boundaries. 
These objections include the matters of security risks arising from the 
provision of the footpath and its location, the potential for the gate to be 
left open and the key code to not be changed frequently, as well as in 
relation to the potential for the footpath to encourage anti-social behaviour 
and other social issues including vagrancy and drug misuse. 

26. The above referenced guidance, in respect of rear access footpaths 
states that it is preferable that footpaths are not placed to the back of 
properties. If they are essential however to give access to the rear of 
dwellings they must be gated. The guidance goes on to advise that gates 
should be placed at the entrance to the footpath, as near to the front 
building line as possible, and must be capable of being locked. Gates 
must not be easy to remove from their hinges and serve the minimum 

30



number of homes, which is usually four or less. 

27. As with any development, it is necessary to consider the proposal on its 
particular merits and based on its specific context and impacts. In this 
case, the entrance to the footpath has been placed in a logistically 
convenient location given that this has been ‘retrofitted’ to the 
development and, whilst not adjacent to the front building line of the 
terrace, is accessed and visible from the single access road serving the 
housing development and is not, therefore, within an inconspicuous or 
secluded location. The footpath will serve 9 dwellings in total which is 
more than the recommended 4 in the above referenced guidance, 
however, it provides no through route for pedestrians and is bound by 
robust close boarded timber fencing to either side. 

28. The entrance gate is also of timber construction as to visually blend in 
with the adjacent fencing, is of a sufficient height such that it is not easily 
climbable, and has been mounted on metal posts to ensure that it is 
robust and not easy to remove from its hinges. The gate will also be 
lockable with a keypad entry system. The code for the gate, the applicant 
has confirmed, will be changed regularly by the appointed management 
company who are responsible for looking after communal areas within the 
development, with residents being notified of the changes by email. 
Additionally, the applicant has agreed to fit a self-closing mechanism to 
the gate to ensure that it cannot be left open, with this being designed 
such that the gate will lock on closure and a condition can be imposed in 
this regard.

29. Taking account of these factors, therefore, and whilst the comments of 
adjacent occupiers are noted and appreciated, it is not considered that the 
impacts arising from the provision of the footpath in respect of security 
would be unacceptable in planning terms. The provision of rear access to 
terraced housing in the manner proposed is also not unusual nor is it 
unique to this development. There is no evidence that such a footpath 
would encourage anti-social behaviour or other social issues in this case. 
As noted above access and egress to the footpath will be only via a 
secure lockable gate, the footpath provides no onward through route, and 
will be used only by the residents that it will serve who themselves will 
have a vested interest in ensuring that the footpath remains secure.  

30. There is therefore considered to be no unacceptable conflict with Saved 
Policy 59.BE of the adopted Local Plan, the corresponding relevant 
provisions of the NPPF, or the aforementioned Secured by Design 
guidance in terms of security and crime prevention related considerations. 

Trees

31. Saved Policy 59.BE(i), amongst other things, requires that development is 
appropriate in design, layout and siting both in itself as well as in relation 
to natural features and trees worthy of retention. There are a number of 
trees present to the western side of the proposed footpath which fall within 

31



the gardens of neighbouring properties.
  

32. The arboricultural information submitted in support of the application sets 
out that the construction of the footpath will adopt a low invasive approach 
through the use of loose tipped aggregate overlaying a geotextile 
positioned at natural ground level, with fill material constrained by wooden 
edging boards held in place with wooden pegs. The Council’s Tree Officer 
having reviewed the proposals is satisfied that, providing that this 
construction methodology is employed, the footpath will not adversely 
harm arboricultural features and as such no objection has been raised. 
The application is therefore considered to comply with Saved Policy 
59.BE of the adopted Local Plan in this respect. 

Other Material Considerations

33. None.

Conclusion

34. In conclusion, it is considered that the proposals are in accordance with 
the relevant local and national planning policies, with the footpath being 
acceptable in terms of its layout, appearance and its impacts on amenity 
and trees, with suitable measures also being incorporated into the 
scheme as not to unduly undermine the security of the residential 
properties both bordering the site and within the development itself. 

32



33



This page is intentionally left blank



BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Thursday 26 
September 2019.

Application Number: F/19/85302
Case Officer: Gary Osmond
Received Date: Wednesday 27 March 2019

Site Address: Land off the B397,  Hound, Hampshire, SO31 5FT

Applicant: Rob Newberry – Balanced Grid Solutions Ltd.

Proposal: Installation of battery standby energy facility consisting of 
13No. structures within a compound surrounded by 2.4 
metre high security fence.

Recommendation: PERMIT subject to no material objection from the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer; Ecologist; and Hound Parish 
Council and any additional conditions which may be 
required.

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: CRM.353.002.PL.D.001, 
CRM.353.002.L.D.001A, CRM.353.002.PL.D.002, CRM.353.002.PL.D.003 & 
CRM.353.002.PL.D.004.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.
 

3 Before the development hereby permitted commences the applicant must:
a) Investigate the site for ground gases to the satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority (LPA), to ascertain whether gas protection measures are required. 
Gas monitoring to be undertaken in accordance with best practice as outlined in 
such documents as BS8576:2013, BS 8485:2015, Claire RB17 and CIRIA 
C665. Where measures are required, the details shall be submitted to, and 
approved by, the LPA; and
b) Ensure all required measures are installed before the development is first 
occupied and a building surveyor’s certification of the work completed submitted 
to the LPA for approval.
Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of the 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and 
other off site receptors.

4 No excavation, demolition or development related works shall take place on site 
until a scaled and referenced tree protection plan, as per British Standard 

35

Agenda Item 9



5837:2012 (Trees in Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction – 
Recommendations), is submitted and approved by the Local Planning Authority 
(LPA). The approved tree protection plan must be adhered to in full, and may 
only be modified subject to written agreement from the LPA.
Reason: to retain and protect the existing trees which form an important part of 
the amenity of the locality.

5 No construction, demolition or deliveries to the site shall take place during the 
construction period except between the hours of 0800 to 1800 Mondays to 
Fridays or 0900 to 1300 on Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Bank 
Holidays.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby dwellings.

6 No burning of materials obtained by site clearance or any other source shall 
take place during the demolition, construction and fitting out process.
Reason: To protect the amenities of the occupiers of nearby properties.

7 Before installation of any of the battery or equipment modules, details of their 
finish and colour shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The installed modules shall then be finished in accordance 
with the agreed details and maintained in the agreed colour and finish 
throughout the lifetime of the development.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory visual appearance.

8 The development hereby permitted shall not be brought into use until a turning 
space has been provided to enable vehicles to turn off and onto Hamble Lane 
in forward gear. The turning space shall subsequently be retained and kept 
available for such purposes at all times.
Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

9 All soft landscaping, tree planting and boundary treatment shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details and to the appropriate British Standard. 
For a period of 5 years after planting, any trees or plants which are removed, 
die or become seriously damaged or defective, shall be replaced as soon as is 
reasonably practicable with others of the same species, size and number as 
originally approved in the landscaping scheme.
Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the locality and to safeguard 
the amenities of neighbouring residents.

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

36



Report:

This application has been referred to Committee by Councillors.

Description of Application

1. The application seeks consent for the installation of battery standby facility 
consisting of 13No. structures within a compound surrounded by 2.4 metre 
high security fence on land off Hamble Lane.  The proposed facility would be 
used to store electricity during periods of high supply but low demand, for it to 
then be released back onto the grid to maintain the correct 50Hz AC 
frequency, or during periods of high peak demand. These types of facility will 
become more frequent as the UK moves from carbon based power generation 
to renewables which do not provide the same consistent source of power as 
that of fossil fuels.

Site Characteristics & Character of Locality

2. The application site is a roughly rectangular piece of land measuring 
approximately 1,100 square metres in area. It lies just to the east of Hamble 
Lane and forms part of the wider ‘Hound Nursery’ site. It contains the remains 
of a number of poly tunnels but does not appear to have been used for some 
time and is now rather overgrown.

3. The site is generally flat and level, bound by a tree lined hedge to the western 
side onto Hamble Lane, lower undergrowth to the eastern side and southern 
end, with a post and wire fence and metal agricultural style gate to the 
northern end which links the site to a shared vehicular access onto Hamble 
Lane.

4. The site lies in an area of rural land between Bursledon, Hamble and Netley, 
formerly arable but now mainly used for grazing. There are small pockets of 
development in the area mainly fronting onto or immediately adjacent to 
Hamble Lane, Hound Road and Satchell Lane.

Relevant Planning History

5. Other than temporary applications in the 1980s for the siting of a mobile home 
and later consent for the current bungalow in 1990, there is very limited 
planning history relating to the application site and wider nursery. The 
exception to this was an application in 2008 for the storage of up to 100 
caravans (F/08/62381) which was refused and later dismissed at appeal on 
the grounds of the harmful visual impact upon the countryside and local gap.

Representations Received

6. Only one representation has been received from occupiers of the 
neighbouring property, ‘Hound Corner Fruit Farm’, commenting on the 
potential visual impact of that proposed when viewed from their property.

37



Consultation Responses

7. Landscape Officer – No objection to revised and more detailed landscape 
proposals.

8. Tree Officer – No objection subject to a condition requiring tree protection 
measures to be installed.

9. Environmental Health (Noise) – Holding objection. Further details in relation 
to the background data and assumptions used is required to back up the 
findings and mitigation measures proposed.

10.Environmental Health (Land Contamination) – No objection subject to 
appropriate gas monitoring being completed prior to commencement.

11.Hampshire Highways – No objection. With only one trip per week anticipated 
for maintenance purposed, it is not anticipated that there would be any impact 
upon the local highway network. A condition requiring submission of a 
construction management plan is requested.

12.Ecologist – Comments awaited.

13.Southampton Airport Safeguarding – No objection. The proposed 
development does not conflict with safeguarding criteria.

14.Hound Parish Council – The committee will be updated on the evening of 
the committee meeting. 

15.Hamble Parish Council – Holding Objection. Insufficient information provided 
to assess the visual impact of that proposed or its exact purpose.

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Local Gap

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

16.Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) saved Policies: 1.CO, 
3.CO, 18.CO 25.NC, 29.ES, 34.ES, 37.ES (iv), 38.ES, 59.BE & 100.T

17.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, July 2014
The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound.  While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

18.Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036

38



The Council undertook public consultation on an updated Local Plan (2016 – 
2036) during the summer of 2018 with the plan being formally submitted to the 
Secretary of State in October 2018. Given the status of the Emerging Plan, it 
is considered that limited weight can be attributed to it.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)

National Planning Policy Framework

19.At a national level, the National Planning Policy Framework (the ‘NPPF’ or the 
‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The NPPF states that (as required by 
statute) applications for planning permission must be determined in 
accordance with the development plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise and sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable 
development.

20.The three identified dimensions of sustainability should to be sought jointly: 
economic (supporting economy and ensuring land availability); social 
(providing housing, creating high quality environment with accessible local 
services); and environmental (contributing to, protecting and enhancing 
natural, built and historic environment) whilst local circumstances should also 
be taken into account, so that development appropriately responds to the 
different opportunities for achieving sustainable development in different 
areas.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

21.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration 
of planning applications. Of particular relevance in this instance is paragraph 
154 which states:

“When determining planning applications for renewable and low carbon 
development, local planning authorities should:

a) not require applicants to demonstrate the overall need for renewable or low 
carbon energy, and recognise that even small-scale projects provide a 
valuable contribution to cutting greenhouse gas emissions; and

b) approve the application if its impacts are (or can be made) acceptable. 
Once suitable areas for renewable and low carbon energy have been 
identified in plans, local planning authorities should expect subsequent 
applications for commercial scale projects outside these areas to demonstrate 
that the proposed location meets the criteria used in identifying suitable 
areas.”

39



Policy Commentary

22.The above policies and guidance combine to form the criteria against which 
this application will be assessed with particular regard to: the principle of that 
proposed; its form, scale and design; its impact upon the visual amenity and 
character of the surrounding area and local gap; the amenity of neighbouring 
uses and occupiers; highway issues; as well as trees and nature 
conservation.

Comment on Consultation Responses and Representations Received

23. In response to the Hampshire Highways request for a construction 
management condition, whilst the reason is understood it is not considered 
necessary in this instance as all works will take place away from the public 
highway and there will be no need for deliveries to be undertaken from the 
road.

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

24.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-

"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must 
be made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations 
indicate otherwise."

In this case policy issues for consideration include:

Principle

25.The application site lies outside the urban edge within designated countryside 
where the basic principle of development is not usually considered acceptable 
unless for justifiable agricultural, horticultural or recreational purposes. 
However, saved Policy 1.CO of the adopted Local Plan does allow some 
exceptions, including “the provision of a public utility service”. The proposed 
battery storage facility would be used to store electricity during periods of high 
supply but low demand, for it to then be released back onto the National Grid 
to maintain the correct 50Hz AC frequency, or during periods of high peak 
demand. These types of facility will become more frequent as the UK moves 
from carbon based power generation to renewables which don’t provide the 
same consistent source of power as the burning of fossil fuels. This type of 
facility is encouraged by the NPPF as part of the UK’s move to more 
sustainable forms of power generation.

26.Saved Policies 34.ES, 37.ES (iv) and 38.ES of the adopted Local Plan also 
encourage the use of low carbon technologies in new development. Policy 
34.ES states “Planning permission will only be granted for proposals which 
make an appropriate contribution towards the Government’s target to reduce 

40



levels of carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gases in the atmosphere by: 
…iii. maximising the proportion of energy that is generated from renewable 
sources.” Save Policy 37.ES (iv) goes onto state that “Permission will be 
granted for development provided… appropriate consideration has been given 
to… opportunities for linking the development to renewable energy schemes”.

27.Saved Policy 38.ES states that “Proposals for renewable energy schemes will 
be permitted provided they meet all the following criteria: i) they are 
appropriately designed, sited and located and do not cause unacceptable 
visual intrusion; ii) the benefits of the scheme for the environment, economy 
and local community outweigh any harmful effects; iii) they make use of the 
best available technology; and iv) they are accompanied by a though analysis 
of the scheme which satisfactorily demonstrates their viability.” In simple 
principle terms therefore, the proposed development can be viewed as 
acceptable despite being outside the urban edge.

28.However, the site also lies within the Bursledon/Hamble/Hound local gap 
where saved Policy 3.CO of the Local Plan states that development which 
would further erode the gap either physically or visually will not usually be 
accepted unless suitable mitigation can be provided. Saved Policy 18.CO is 
also of relevance, this states that “Development which fails to respect, or has 
an adverse impact on the intrinsic character of the landscape, will be refused.” 
Any planning approval will therefore be dependent upon the resulting visual 
impact of that proposed upon the site and wider area.

Form, Scale & Design

29.The battery storage facility consists of a number of modules (3 x Battery 
Modules; 3 x Inverter Modules; 3 x Transformer Modules; a Control/Switch 
Room; and a WPD Switch Room) varying in height from 3.0 metres to 4.9 
metres. While taller, no module has a footprint greater in size than a standard 
shipping container. They are manufactured off site and can be transported via 
a normal size HGV to be installed on pre-laid concrete base slabs. As such, 
ground works are relatively minimal and the time taken to install the 
equipment is short, thereby causing very limited impact during the 
construction phase.

30.All modules would be contained within a 2.4 metre high fenced compound 
approximately 12.0 metres in width and 46.0 metres in length. The north-
eastern portion of the compound would also include a 4.0 metre high acoustic 
fence just inside the compound which would be required to protect the 
amenity of the neighbouring dwelling. Access to the compound would be at 
the northern end via a new access track which links to the existing track/drive 
which serves the Hound Nursery site. The facility would then share the 
existing nursery access onto Hamble Lane.

31.The choice of location for the development of battery energy storage schemes 
is governed by the availability of grid connections. Grid connections are 
required to have sufficient capacity to import electricity to the battery and 
sufficient capacity to export it back the grid when required at short notice in 

41



response to an urgent national need. Relatively few grid connections have 
import and export capacity in the right balance to allow battery energy storage 
schemes to be developed. The connection adjacent to the application site was 
the only one available in the area. Such a facility needs to be located within 
500 metres of a suitable connection point for technical and efficiency 
requirements. Ideally the distance should be minimised as much as possible 
to limit power losses between the connection point/substation and the facility. 
The substation in this instance is located 135 metres south of the application 
site and would be connected via underground cabling which is likely to run 
along Hamble Lane. The site was also chosen as it has the ability to utilise 
existing natural screening and when considering the generally open character 
of the surrounding area, was considered to be the most suitable site within the 
500 metre distance requirements for such a facility.

32. In terms of scale the facility it is no larger than it needs to be for functional 
purposes and its appearance is equally functional with limited ability to 
change its form or design other than to control its colour.

Visual Amenity & Area Character

33.As discussed above, the site lies within the heart of the 
Bursledon/Hamble/Hound local gap where development which would further 
erode the gap either physically or visually is not usually accepted unless 
suitable mitigation can be provided. In this instance the battery compound 
benefits from an existing reasonable boundary hedge to its western side 
where it abuts Hamble Lane. This hedge is certainly tall enough but will need 
to be bolstered to provide an effective screen all year around, which there is 
scope to achieve. To the east and south there is already a hedge, albeit much 
lower and in need of proper management. However, again there is scope to 
achieve this and provide suitable tree planting which would screen and soften 
views when looking from the east. Whilst some of the structures are 
approaching five metres in height, they can be generally screened with 
suitable tree and landscape planting, albeit this would take a few years to 
establish.

34.To achieve sufficient screening, it is proposed to include a substantial amount 
of new tree and landscape planting along the eastern edge of the proposed 
compound. This would be within a 6-8 metre wide belt, which would ensure 
that there is sufficient room to allow this landscape planting to become dense 
enough to create a robust area of planting which would almost entirely screen 
the development when viewed from the public footpaths to the east of the 
application site. The submitted landscape strategy/scheme has been 
reviewed by the Council’s Landscape Officer who is satisfied that proposed 
will be sufficient to achieve an appropriate level of screening and mitigate the 
initial short term visual impact upon the local gap.

35.Whilst it is accepted that the compound and equipment can be screened and 
its visual impact minimised, saved Policy 3.CO talks about development which 
visually and physically impacts upon the local gap. Even though there is 
scope to mitigate the visual impact of the facility, there would still be a 

42



physical impact through the introduction of such a development upon a site 
where no such development currently exists. However, such equipment is not 
entirely out of context with the surrounding area, with the main electrical 
substation required for connection to the National Grid already lying to the 
south of the application site, albeit this substation is partially screened by 
neighbouring residential development. It is also the case that the application 
site used to have poly tunnel structures upon it. Whilst not an unusual sight in 
a rural context, it does demonstrate that the site is not a virgin undeveloped 
field which has never been developed in any way.

36.Although such a development would not usually be encouraged within a 
designated local gap, a number of saved policies of the adopted Local Plan 
encourage development which would assist in reducing carbon dioxide and 
the promotion of renewable energy technologies. The NPPF also requires 
local authorities to approve such schemes if any impacts can be made 
acceptable. In this instance it is considered that any visual and physical harm 
resulting from that proposed upon the local gap can be acceptably mitigated. 
On balance therefore, it is considered that the proposed facility can be looked 
upon favourably despite its local gap location.

Amenity

37.The main issue to consider in relation to amenity is noise, particularly for the 
two residential dwellings closest to the facility: the bungalow at Hound 
Nursery; and Hound Corner Fruit Farm, 40 and 57 metres distant respectively. 
Whilst the proposed battery storage equipment will not emit significant levels 
of noise due to minimal moving parts, there will be a requirement for the 
battery storage modules and associated inverters to be cooled during periods 
of warm weather. As such, each module would be fitted with ventilation units, 
which would be the main source of noise.

38.Saved Policies 29.ES of the Local Plan relates to issues of noise and pollution 
and states that “Industrial or commercial development which would result in 
any noise-sensitive premises being subject to a loss of amenity by means of 
an excessive increase in noise and/or vibration exposure, will not be 
permitted.” Equally saved Policy 59.BE requires development to be 
sympathetic to its locality and avoid undue impact on neighbouring properties.

39.The application is supported by a noise survey and impact assessment which 
shows that due to the heavily trafficked Hamble Lane, there should be no 
impact greater than the general background noise level during daylight hours. 
Overnight however, once traffic levels have calmed down, there is the 
potential for the ventilation fans to be heard above the night time background 
levels but only at slightly elevated levels. Whilst Hound Corner Fruit Farm 
should be sufficiently protected through distance, Hound Nursery being closer 
could be affected. As such, it is proposed to include a 4.0 metre high acoustic 
fence within the compound to provide sufficient protection from the proposed 
development.

43



40.These mitigation proposals have been reviewed by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Specialist who whilst not disagreeing with the findings 
has requested more information in relation to the background data and 
assumptions used. This information has been requested and will hopefully be 
available before the committee meeting for Members to be updated.

Highways

41.Other than the initial vehicle movements required to construct and install the 
facility, continued movements to and from the site will be limited to occasional 
maintenance visits. As such it is not considered the proposal will have any 
noticeable impact upon the local highway network, a view backed up by the 
consultation response from Hampshire Highways.

Trees & Nature Conservation

42.The Council’s Tree Officer is satisfied that provided suitable tree protection 
measures are put in place during and after construction, there would be no 
adverse impact upon any existing trees, in particular those along the Hamble 
Lane frontage.

43.Whilst formal comments from the Council’s Ecologist are still awaited, the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal which has been submitted in support of the 
application has not identified any protected species on site or habitat of 
particular importance. Whilst some mitigation/protection measures are 
recommended such as no site clearance during the bird nesting season, it is 
not believed that the proposed development is likely to result in any 
unacceptable harm to biodiversity. The proposed landscaping scheme 
provides the opportunity to improve and enhance the existing habitat, 
resulting in a biodiversity net gain.

Planning Obligations / Considerations

44.Contributions can be secured via a planning obligation to offset the impact of 
a development on infrastructure where without which the harm would be such 
that the scheme should be refused. However, given once operational the 
proposed development is not expected to have any noticeable impact upon 
the local highway network, it would be unreasonable in planning terms to 
require contributions. As such, no planning obligations are required in this 
instance.

Other Material Considerations

45.The NPPF requires any new development to be sustainable, with 
sustainability having three ‘threads’: economic; social; and environmental. The 
requirements of all three threads must be met if development is to be 
considered sustainable.

46. In terms of economy, the manufacture, installation and maintenance of the 
facility will help to support skilled jobs. Once in operation, the facility will also 

44



play a part in providing an efficient and carbon neutral power generation 
system which will assist in supporting the country’s economy. For the same 
reasons, the promotion and enabling of a carbon neutral power grid also 
addresses the wider social requirements of sustainability by helping the 
country to achieve its sustainability and environmental aims, as well as those 
of Eastleigh Borough Council who has recently declared a Climate 
Emergency.

47.The third thread of sustainability is more multifaceted, covering many issues 
from visual impact and amenity through to ecology and impact upon the 
environment. As has been discussed above, it is considered that the physical 
impact of that proposed can be adequately mitigated; the new landscaping 
proposed can assist in enhancing local habitat and biodiversity; there would 
be no adverse impact upon local amenity, etc.; and the facility would help 
lessen the reliance on fossil fuels for our electrical power needs.

48.Overall therefore, the proposed development is considered to meet all three 
threads of sustainability as set out by the NPPF.

Conclusion

49.For the reasons set out above, the application is on balance considered to 
meet the requirements of the relevant Local Plan polices and National 
planning guidance. As such, the application is recommended for approval 
subject to the conditions set out above and no material objection from the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer; Ecologist; and Hound Parish Council; 
and any additional conditions which may be required.

45



46



BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Thursday 26 
September 2019.

Application Number: F/19/85730
Case Officer: Clare Martin
Received Date: Thursday 23 May 2019
Site Address: 30 QUEENS VIEW, NETLEY ABBEY, SOUTHAMPTON, 

SO31 5EA
Applicant: Maria Harris
Proposal: Retention of change of use from retail (Class A1) to cafe 

(Class A3)

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: LOC 01, BLOC 01 & FP 01.
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby permitted shall start no later than three years from the 
date of this decision.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

3 The development hereby permitted shall not be open to customers and no 
deliveries shall be received or dispatched from the site except between the 
hours of 0800-2000 (Monday to Friday), 0800-1700 (on Saturdays & Sundays). 
Reason: To protect the amenity of the occupiers of nearby residential 
properties.

5 Within two months of the date of this decision a filtered recirculation odour 
extraction system shall be installed at the premises and thereafter maintained in 
a working condition for the lifetime of the development. Reason: To protect the 
amenity of the nearby residential dwellings. 

Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee as Eastleigh Borough Council owns 
the building.  

47

Agenda Item 10



Description of Application

1. In 2015, temporary planning permission was granted to convert the unit from the 
existing A1 retail use to a community hub with ancillary café. The café provided a 
venue for many local groups and community services. It also provided a meeting 
point for some more isolated elderly residents. 

2. The café closed in August 2018 and the unit remained vacant until the café was 
reopening in January 2019, under the name Netley Nibbles. During this time the 
three year temporary planning permission for the café expired and so the 
applicant is now applying to permanently change the use of the A1 retain unit to 
an A3 use as a Café.

3. The café has been taken over by the grow project, which provides support for 
adults with learning disabilities. The owners agreed to continue running the café 
as a community hub and are looking to expand the current community groups to 
include those aimed at young people and disabled adults.

Character of the Site and Locality

4. The café operates from the ground floor of a two storey semi-detached, with the 
other half being used as a grocery store. The first floor directly above the units is 
split into two flats.

5. To the side of the building are double garages and to the front is a large forecourt 
and parking area. The building is on its own row within and is surrounded by 
houses being located within a mainly residential area of Netley. The site is not 
within a designated local shopping area.

Relevant Planning History

 F/15/77014 - Change of use of ground floor from A1 (retail) to community hub 
(D2 use) with ancillary café (A3 use) – Temporary Approved 2015

 J/14/75267 - Prior notification for change of use of buildings from retail (A1) to 
1no. bed and 1no. 2 bed dwellings (C3) – Approved 2014

 Z/29195 – Change of use of shop for sale of hot food – Refused 1986 due to 
impact on residential amenity. 

Representations Received

6. One comment letter has been received highlighting the problems of odours from 
fried food resulting in these residents keeping their windows and doors closed. 
The current fume extraction system is not suitable and has previously been 
rejected by the Council’s Environmental Health Team. Concern was also raised 
about the café opening until 11pm as previously troublesome youths hanging 
around the area and whether the extended hours team may not be qualified to 
respond to late night issues.

48



Consultation Responses

Environmental Health

7. The application proposes a new cooking extraction system, which recirculates 
extracted air back into the café after treatment and does not discharge air exterior 
to the building.  Provided that is the case, the risk of odour emission impacting 
upon residential amenity is low.  

8. It is understood that the equipment will be entirely housed internally within the 
café and that no plant will be positioned externally.  As such, the plant should not 
pose a significant risk to amenity due to noise emission provided any installation 
is professional and isolates the fan from the structural elements of the building.  

9. In terms of extended opening hours, late night operation can give rise to 
disruption especially from clientele if they congregate outside the premises.  
However, this is more usually an issue for hot food takeaways operating close to 
public houses and entertainment uses where rowdy behaviour is not untypical.  I 
don’t think the risk is particularly high here and have no particular comments to 
make.  

Hound Parish Council – No objection

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Established Residential Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 Saved Policies: 59.BE, 142.TC 
& 186.IN.

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016 – 2036 Policies: DM1

National Planning Policy Framework & National Planning Practice Guidance

10.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration of 
planning applications. 

Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative Background

11.Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:-
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any 
determination to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be 
made in accordance with the plan unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise."

49



Principle
12.The permitted planning use of the unit is an A1 retail, as this is the fall back 

position now that the temporary planning permission expired. However, the 
site is not within a local retail centre and as such the A1 retail use is not 
protected by policy. Furthermore, the site has been operating on and off as a 
café for an extended period and so it is reasonable to consider permanent 
retention of this use.

13.The site is within the urban edge where the principle of development is 
acceptable, subject to the details complying with the relevant planning policies. 

14.Saved Policy 59.BE requires development to take full and proper account of 
the context of the site including the character and appearance of the locality 
and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, design and siting.  It also 
requires development to have a high standard of landscape design, have a 
satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclist and pedestrians, 
make provision for refuse and cycle storage and avoid unduly impacting on 
neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, noise and 
fumes.

15.Saved Policy 142.TC Proposals for the development of new A3, A4 or A5 
premises or the change of use of existing premises to such a use will be 
permitted provided they meet all the following criteria: 

i. there are no residential units or other odour-sensitive premises 
which could be detrimentally affected by the proposal due to their 
close proximity and/or local conditions; 

ii. where appropriate, the proposal makes adequate and acceptable 
provision for neutralising odours and controlling noise; and 

iii. the proposal should make adequate provision for the disposal, 
storage and collection of waste.

Character and Appearance
16.No extensions or significant alterations have been necessary to convert the 

building from a retail unit into a café. Although not identified as a local parade 
of shops within the adopted or submitted Local Plans, the appearance of the 
building would remain in keeping with this existing small shopping parade and 
reflect that of similar parades often found within residential areas. 

Cooking Odours
17.There are two flats on the first floor above the retail units and there are a number 

of houses within close proximity. A representation has been received highlighting 
the problems with the existing odour extraction system that has led to cooking 
smells impacting on residential properties. However, the applicant intends to 
install an extraction system that filters the cooking odours and recirculates the 

50



treated air back into the café with none of the odours being released outside of 
the property. 

18.The new extraction system will be fully housed within the building and so there 
will be a low risk of cooking odours escaping and a reduced noise transmission. 
The Council’s Environmental Health Team has approved the new system and if 
the application is approved a condition would be imposed ensuring that system is 
installed at the premises within two months. 

Opening Hours

19.The applicant has been trialling different opening hours to establish when best to 
open the cafe. At present the hours are Wednesday to Thursday (9am to 5pm), 
Friday (9am to 8pm), Saturday (9am to 5pm) and Sunday (9am to 4pm). 
However, there needs to be flexibility in the opening hours in order for the café to 
be able to cater for new community groups coming forward. As such a condition 
is recommended allowing the café to operate during the week between the hours 
of 8am and 8pm and at weekends between 8am until 5pm. This will provide 
nearby residents with the reassurance that there will not be unreasonable 
disturbance during the early morning and late into the evening. The 8am start 
reflects the opening hours allowed in the previous temporary planning 
permission.

20.The applicant had considered opening the café until 11pm one day a week, but 
no longer intends to proceed with this in the near future. A new planning 
application will be required should the applicant wish to further extend the hours 
outside of the specified times.   

Food Waste

21. In terms of waste, the applicant has arranged collection to be made by a private 
company and this has been arrangement has been in place for a considerable 
time without problems being raised with the Council. 

Vehicular Trips

22.The community café is aimed at local residents, many of whom will be able to 
walk to the café.  There will be a relatively small number of generated by the 
proposal and this will be comparable to a retail unit. There is a large parking area 
in front of the building and sufficient on road capacity to accommodate parking 
without resulting in a significant highway safety issue. 

Conclusion

The change of use from A1 retail to A3 café accords with Saved Policies 59.BE 
and 142.TC and as such the development is recommended for permission. 

51



52



BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Thursday 26 
September 2019.

Application Number: F/19/86075
Case Officer: Clare Martin
Received Date: Thursday 11 July 2019
Site Address: JENNY'S CAFE, HIGH STREET, HAMBLE-LE-RICE, 

SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 4HA
Applicant: Lizzie Shawcroft
Proposal: Retention of rear outdoor customer area for cafe comprising  

three level paved terrace, open sided gazebo, tables and 
chairs, storage shed and associated landscaping 
(retrospective application).

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall accord with the following plans 
numbered: LOC 01, BLOC 01, 01, 02, 03 & 04. Reason: For the avoidance of 
doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2

3.

The outdoor seating area shall only be open to customers between 10am and 
5pm and at no other time. Reason: To protect the amenity of the neighbouring 
residents.

The panel fencing along the eastern and western side boundaries of the rear 
outdoor area shall be retained at a height of 2m for the lifetime of the 
development.  Reason: To protect the amenity of the neighbouring residents. 
 
Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

Report:

This application has been referred to Committee by Cllr Craig, Cllr Manning & Cllr 
Airey 

Description of Application

1. The application is to retain the outdoor seating area created at the back of the 
café. There are steep steps up from the back of the café to a series of three 
terraces which rise up towards the back of the site. The seating area has been 
paved and landscaped and comprises four tables with seating spread over the 

53

Agenda Item 11



terraces. The proposal also includes retention of an open sided gazebo and shed 
at the back of the seating area. 

2. The outdoor seating area was opened to customers in April this year having 
previously been an unused grassed area.  

Characteristics of the Site and Locality

3. The site comprises a two storey detached building with café on the ground floor 
and a holiday let above.  At the front is a small seating area and a larger area has 
been installed at the rear of the property, which is the subject on this planning 
application. The rear area is enclosed by 2m high panel fencing which slopes 
upwards following the site topography. Behind the rear fencing is a row of tall 
conifer trees visually separating the site from the flats to the rear.

4. The site is within Hamble village centre, which contains a mixture of commercial 
and residential properties. To the west there is the house at Lynwood, which 
immediately adjoins the seating area. There are further residential properties to 
the Eastern side and flats behind the site, but these are a further distance away 
from the proposal. 

Relevant Planning History

5. U/14/74809 - Certificate of lawfulness for existing use as mixed A1 and A3 (café) 
Granted 2014.

Representations Received

6. The application received one letter of support from the residents of River View 
and one letter of objection from the residents of Lynwood. The objection was on 
the basis that the area has already been created without consultation and that it 
is noisy, visually intrusive and has resulted in a loss of privacy from their property. 
The letter noted that the residents were older and in poor health. 

Consultation Responses

Environmental Health Officer – No objection

7. Locating a seating area for customers to the rear of the café premises, gives rise 
to a potential for noise impact from patrons to affect occupants of the adjacent 
residential uses. Currently, the rear gardens of the adjacent residential uses are 
not impacted directly by commercial noise and provide some respite from noise 
arising at the front of the properties from the café and other commercial uses 
nearby. However, the character of the area is one of mixed residential and 
commercial uses, with a public house having a beer garden to the other side of 
one set of the dwellings, as such a degree of noise impact in the garden areas is 
to be expected. 

8. On the basis that the garden is used in conjunction with the café use we would 
not expect the same degree of noise impact as compared to a public house, 

54



therefore we do not object to the proposal. We would however recommend that 
the hours of use of the garden are controlled to be no more than the current 
opening hours of the café 0800-1700, and that the fencing serving the garden is 
of a close boarded design (so there are no gaps between boards, or with the 
ground surface) and maintained in good order to provide a degree of noise 
screening.

Built Heritage Consultant – No objection

9. This application, essentially for paving the rear ‘garden’ of a not particularly 
attractive pair of 1930’s style houses now converted into a café with 
accommodation above in the middle of the High Street, does not have significant 
impact on the characteristics of the conservation area.

10.The terracing, paving and equipment on it is not visible from the public domain 
and it does not affect the setting of a heritage asset. The canopy is simple and 
tucked under the evergreen tree canopy to the very rear of the site, which would 
sterilise the ground underneath its spread in any event. 

Tree Officer – No objection

11.The site is a steep, north-facing slope towards the property. There is a conifer on 
neighbouring property to the south, which overlooks the site. Although extensive 
landscaping would have occurred as part of the development, the levels have 
largely remained the same, albeit with some minor terracing to improve usability. 
The roots of the conifer may have been affected by this, but it is not felt that any 
damage would be significant or easily established.

Hamble Parish Council – No comment

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Within Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Local Shopping Area
 Within Hamble Conservation Area

Development Plan Saved Policies and Emerging Local Plan Policies

 Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 saved Policies: 59.BE & 169.LB 

 Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, July 2014 Policies: DM1 & 
DM12

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Quality Places (November 2011)
 Hamble Conservation Area (August 2008)

National Planning Policy Framework

55



12.The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) states that applications for 
planning permission must be determined in accordance with the development 
plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

13.Para 14 sets out a general presumption in favour of sustainable development and 
states that development proposals which accord with the development plan 
should be approved without delay. Where the development plan is absent, silent, 
or relevant policies are out-of-date planning permission should be granted unless 
the adverse impacts of the development would outweigh the benefits; or specific 
policies in the Framework indicate development should be restricted (paragraph 
14). 

14.Local plan policies that do not accord with the NPPF are now deemed to be “out-
of-date”. The NPPF requires that due weight should be given to relevant policies 
in existing plans according to their degree of consistency with the NPPF. In other 
words the closer the policies in the plan accord to the policies in the Framework, 
the greater the weight that may be given.

National Planning Practice Guidance 

15.Where material, this guidance should be afforded weight in the consideration of 
planning applications. 

16.Assessment of Proposal: Development Plan and / or Legislative 
Background

17.Section 38(6) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states:- 
"If regard is to be had to the development plan for the purpose of any determination 
to be made under the planning Acts the determination must be made in accordance 
with the plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise."

18.The site also lies within a Conservation Area and Section 71(1) of the Planning 
(Listed Buildings & Conservation Areas) Act 1990 states:

“In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in the Conservation 
Area of any powers (under the Planning Acts), special attention shall be paid to 
the desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area”.)

Background
19.The site was granted a certificate of lawfulness in 2014 for a mixed use to include 

the consumption of food on the premises and the limited sale of hot food to eat in 
or takeaway. The rear garden was included within the certificate of lawfulness so 
allowing this area to be used as part of the café. However, planning permission is 
required for the physical works involved in creating the terraced seating area and 
structures such as the canopy and storage shed. 

56



20.It should also be noted that in physically creating the rear seating area, 
customers are now able to access the outdoor area and so consideration needs 
to be given as to how this intensification of use will affect the local environment 
and amenity of neighbouring residents. 

Principle 
21.The site is located within the urban edge where the principle of development is 

acceptable subject to the details complying with the relevant planning policies.   

22.Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, layout, 
design and siting.  It also requires a high standard of landscape design and 
avoid unduly impacting on neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of 
light, loss of outlook, noise and fumes (applicable elements).

23.Saved Policy 169.LB of the Local Plan allows extensions and alterations to 
properties within Conservation Areas provided the proposal preserves or 
enhances the character and appearance of the Conservation Area; the mass, 
form and materials are appropriate to the existing and adjoining buildings; and 
that the proposal does not generate excessive traffic, parking or noise or 
cause harm to the local environment (applicable elements).

Economic benefits
24.The outdoor area has increased the seating capacity of established café giving a 

boost to their trade and creating an attractive environment for customers to enjoy 
their food and drink.

25.The site is located within Hamble Village Centre. The café is open during 
shopping hours and the rear seating area will encouraging people to spend more 
time within Hamble. This provides a boost to the cafes trade and footfall for other 
nearby businesses.  The café being a complementary use to many of the other 
commercial outlets within Hamble Village centre. 

26.The development is in line with local planning policies that are designed to protect 
the vitality and viably of the local shopping centres. It is also in line with the 
governments aspirations to “build a strong, responsive and competitive economy 
a builds a strong, responsive and competitive economy” as set out within 
paragraph 8 of The National Planning Policy Framework.  However, these 
economic benefits need to be balanced against the environmental and social 
impacts of the development. In this case consideration needs to be given to the 
developments visual appearance, effect on the Hamble Conservation Area, 
Impact on the amenity of residential properties and local environment.

57



Visual Impact and Conservation Area
27.The applicant has taken the unused grassed area behind the site and created a 

new terraced area where customers can sit outside to consume their food and 
drinks. The site has been paved and potted plants added to create an appealing 
outdoor sitting area which has improved its appearance. 

28.At the back is a modest gazebo covering one of the table and a small storage 
shed. These are tucked away under the tree canopy where they blend in with the 
surrounding. Both the canopy and shed are low structures that are not obtrusive 
when viewed from the outdoor area or neighbouring sites. 

29.The building itself is not of high architectural value and the outdoor seating area 
is at the back where it is not visible from the main High Street.  It is considered 
that the development has preserved the character and appearance of Hamble 
Conservation Area.

30.No objection has been raised by the Council’s Built Heritage Consultant and in 
respect of character and appearance the development accords with Saved 
Policies 59.BE and 169.LB of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan. 

Residential Amenity – Noise and Disturbance
31.The development has brought customers into an outside area at the back of the 

property that they were previously unable to access.  The outdoor seating area is 
directly alongside the house and garden of Lynwood and these residents are 
concerned about the noise, visual intrusion and loss of privacy they have 
experienced since the outdoor seating area opened in April this year. The other 
residential properties within the vicinity are further away so are less impact by the 
noise. 

32.The development has created a new attractive outdoor space which has 
encouraged customers to spend time consuming their food and drinks. This in 
term has resulted in additional outside noise from people talking and moving 
around the site and that could cause disturbance to the residents of Lynwood.

33.It is not possible to condition a maximum number of people using the outdoor 
area area, but the numbers would be limited to those that can comfortability fit 
around the four tables. At peak times the intensity of the use and the associated 
noise would be higher than that of an average domestic garden.

34.The noise levels will fluctuate considerably from day to day with more customers 
using the outdoor area at peak times on sunny days. These are times when the 
Lynwood residents are also likely to want to open their windows or use their 
garden and so would be more susceptible to disturbance. However, to balance 

58



this there will also be extended times when there is likely to be no people using 
the outdoor area, particularly during the winter months or in poor weather. These 
times will allow the neighbouring residents some rest bite from customer noise.

35.Furthermore, the café operates during the day (between 8am and 5pm) and is 
within Hamble village centre where there higher background noise commercial 
activity and vehicle movements. There is an option to further limit the times that 
the outdoor seating area is used. A condition is recommended that the outdoor 
seating area is not opened to customers until 10am, thus allowing the Lynwood 
residents to have their early mornings and evenings without being directly 
disturbed by additional customer noise.  This approach is supported by the 
Council’s Environmental Health Officer.

36.In coming to this conclusion it’s recognised that café operates within a busy 
village centre in which there are a number of pubs and restaurants with their own 
beer gardens, some of which are larger or open later into the evening. Within 
central Hamble there is an element of customer noise from other establishments 
that carries over to the nearby residential properties and this is a feature of living 
within an active village centre.  

37.Therefore, while the development will result in customer noise impacting on 
nearby residents, on balance, it is considered that the level of noise disturbance 
is not sufficient to warrant refusal of the planning application. In this respect the 
development accords with Saved Policy 59.BE of the Eastleigh Borough Local 
Plan.

Residential Amenity – Overlooking
38.The outdoor seating area comprises three terraces which due to the steep slope 

of the site are a similar level to the café’s first floor. There is roughly 6m to 12m 
between the upper terraces and first floor windows and so allows customers 
siting outside to have glimpses of people moving around the upper floor.   

39.While the first floor is in residential accommodation, it is used as a holiday let 
rather than a main residence. People have different expectations of short stay 
holiday accommodation then they would of their own residential property and for 
a holiday let this arrangement is considered acceptable. Should the unit later be 
used as residential accommodation than the occupier will be aware of the 
situation before taking on the flat. 

40.As previously mentioned, the site is directly alongside the house and garden at 
Lynwood, with a line 2m high panel fencing along the side boundary separating 
the two properties. The fencing follows the site’s slope so that when customers 
are sitting at the tables they cannot easily view down into the neighbour’s garden 

59



which is on a much lower level. For the majority of the time customers will be sat 
down on the benches. 

41.When standing up there is some partial visibility from the site down onto the 
neighbours patio in the section between the back of their house and large rear 
garage. The far side of the neighbour’s garden is not affected. However, when 
moving around the site people are likely to be concentrating on negotiating a path 
between the tables and steps rather than looking into the neighbour’s patio. 

42.Raising part of the fence height to prevent any overlooking has been considered 
but due to the levels difference this is will form an imposing feature when viewed 
from Lynwood. While the residents of Lynwood are clearly concerned about being 
overlooked, there is only partial visibility into their garden and due to the obscure 
angle and positioning there is no reasonable vision into their main rear windows 
or side landing window. 

43.Furthermore, by restricting the times customers can use the outdoor seating area 
to the middle of the day the proposal provides some rest bite for the neighbouring 
residents during beginning and end of the day. On balance it is considered that 
the level of visual intrusion is not to such an extent as to warrant refusal of the 
planning application. In terms of amenity the proposal is considered to meet the 
requirements of Saved Policy 59.BE of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan. 

Highways 
44.While the outdoor seating area has expanded the capacity of the café this is a 

relatively modest increase and will not generate excessive traffic, parking or harm 
to the busy village centre. Car parking is available within central Hamble.

Other material considerations

45.Also of relevance is the Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011 - 2029, 
July 2014.  While not yet adopted it does carry weight by virtue of being intended 
as the current local plan’s replacement.  With regards to this application, the new 
policies essentially echo those of the current plan and are not considered to 
affect the recommendation put forward.

Conclusion

46.With the recommended conditions it is considered that the development strikes 
an acceptable balanced between supporting an established business within 
Hamble village centre while limiting the impact on the amenity of neighbouring 
residents. The planning application is accords with local and national planning 
policies and as such the development is recommended for permission. 

60



61



This page is intentionally left blank



BHH – Bursledon, Hamble and Hound Local Area Committee Thursday 26 
September 2019.

Application Number: X/19/85436
Case Officer: Rosie Rivers
Received Date: Friday 12 April 2019
Site Address: FAIRPORT HOUSE, LANDS END ROAD, BURSLEDON, 

SOUTHAMPTON, SO31 8DN
Applicant: Mark Keeling
Proposal: Removal of condition 2 and variation of condition 7 of 

application C/16/78768 to allow retention of partial change of 
use of ground floor of existing outbuilding to B1(a) office use.

Recommendation: PERMIT

CONDITIONS AND REASONS

1 The development hereby permitted shall be implemented in accordance with 
the following plans numbered: 2016.03.01_03 Rev A, 2016.03.01_04, 
2016.03.01_05.

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

2 The development hereby approved shall be used for B1(a) office administration 
purposes and for no other purposes including any other purposes in Class B1 of 
the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning [use Classes] Order 1987, or in 
any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instruments revoking and 
re-enacting that Order with or without modification. Reason: In the interest of 
highway safety and local amenity.

3 Space shall be provided for one car for the office accommodation. The parking 
area shall be permanently retained and reserved for that purpose at all times. 
Reason: To make provision for off street parking for the purpose of highway 
safety.

4 The development hereby permitted shall not operate except between the hours 
of 08:00 to 18:00hrs Monday to Friday, 09:00 to 13:00hrs on Saturday and at no 
times on Sundays or recognised public holidays. Reason; To protect the 
amenity of the occupiers of nearby properties.

5 Notwithstanding the provision of the Town and Country Planning [General 
Permitted Development] Order 2015 or any order re-voking or re-enacting that 
order with or without modification no development permitted by Class O of part 
3 or Class F of part 7 of Schedule 2 of the order shall be carried out. Reason: 
To protect the amenities of the locality and to maintain a good quality 
environment.

6 The office accommodation hereby permitted shall not be occupied by more than 
one member of staff unless first agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Reason: In the interest of highway safety and local amenity.

63

Agenda Item 12



Note to Applicant: In accordance with paragraph 38 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework (February 2019), Eastleigh Borough Council takes a positive 
approach to the handling of development proposals so as to achieve, whenever 
possible, a positive outcome and to ensure all proposals are dealt with in a 
timely manner.

        
Report:

This application has been referred to Committee at the request of the Local 
Members, Councillor Manning, Councillor Rich and Councillor Craig.

Description of Application

1. The application proposes the removal of condition 2 and variation of condition 
7 of application C/16/78768 to allow the office accommodation to be used by 
alternative business and not the business named within condition 2 and 7 of 
the previous application.

2. Condition 2 of application C/16/78768 stated:

The use hereby permitted shall be limited to the business Vivid Water in a Box 
and no other companies. The use of the building as a commercial office space 
can only be undertaken so long as Mr Keeling resides at Fairport House, 
Lands End Road, Bursledon. Should the office no longer be occupied by the 
business Vivid Water in a Box, the approved development shall cease and 
within one month all materials and equipment brought onto the site in 
connection with the development shall be removed and the building revert 
back to an ancillary domestic use. Reason: This permission is only given due 
to the particular circumstances of the case.

3. Condition 7 stated:

The office accommodation hereby permitted shall not be occupied by more 
than one member of staff in connection with the business Vivid Water in a Box 
unless first agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Reason: In the 
interest of highway safety and local amenity.

Site Characteristics

4. The site consists of a detached dwelling located on the south west of Lands 
End Road. The River Hamble is located to the northeast of the site. The site 
benefits from a three bay garage with accommodation above. The application 
relates to a two storey detached outbuilding which is located towards the front 
of the site by the entrance to the property. 

5. The surrounding area generally consists of detached dwellings positioned on 
generous sized plots.

64



Relevant Planning History

F/19/85908 The proposed works consist of three 
main elements:
Demolition of existing boatshed
Construction of a new water related 
facilities building
Installation of a jetty and berthing 
pontoon

Currently under 
consideration

H/19/85436 Retention of fence fronting Lands End 
Road

Refused 
10/09/19

C/16/78768 Partial change of use of ground floor of 
existing outbuilding to B1(a) office use 
(retrospective)

Permit
11/10/2016

C/32596/002/00 Retrospective application: replacement 
of first floor window with door in south 
elevation and insertion of new first floor 
door in north elevation for approved 
garage. 

Permit 
10/12/2002 

C/32596/001/00 Construction of two storey side 
extension and attached conservatory, 
replacement of existing timber cladding 
at first floor level with clay tiles and 
existing plastic sheeting at ground floor 
level with brick, new roof and retention 
of replaced walls on detached 
garage/boathouse 

Permit 
10/10/2000 

C/32596/000/00 Extensions and alterations to existing 
house 

Permit 
19/08/1992 

Representations Received

6. 1 letter of support raising no objections to the application

7. 4 letters of objection on the following grounds:

 Need to maintain the personal nature of the permission
 Need to maintain control proposal could result in a unrestricted 

commercial use
 No objection to permission being amended to provide for a new 

specified sole occupier, inappropriate to remove condition 
 Permission no longer exists for any sort of commercial activity and the 

permission has expired
 Increases in staff and visitor numbers would be very unsuitable for 

Lands End Road and highway issues would inevitably occur

Consultation Responses

65



8. County Highway Authority  -  Following further consultation no objection is 
raised to another business taking over on a like for like basis.

9. Bursledon Parish Council – objection:
 Object to the removal of condition
 Object to any variation of condition
 All conditions set for application C/16/78768 should continue to remain in 

force, these original conditions were specific for named parties only. A 
precedent may be set which will be harmful to the Special Policy and 
Bursledon Conservation Areas.

 Application is contrary to EBC Special Policy Area and Bursledon 
Conservation Area designation.

 Should Officers be minded to approve this application Members ask that 
this application be referred to the LAC.

10.  Old Bursledon Action Group (OBAG) – Objection
 Permission no longer exists for any sort of commercial activity
 In future years the building could be occupied by a different end-use and 

highways issues could occur

Policy Context:  Designation Applicable to Site

 Outside Built-up Area Boundary
 Within Established Residential Area
 Within Designated Conservation Area
 Old Bursledon Special Policy Area

Legislative provisions 

11.Section 70(2) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and Section 38(6) 
of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 require a local planning 
authority determining an application to do so in accordance with the 
Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.

The Development Plan 

12.At the current time the Development Plan for the Borough comprises the 
Saved Policies within the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review (2001-2011) 
and the Hampshire Minerals and Waste Plan (October 2013). The policies 
contained within the latter are not considered to be applicable to the particular 
development proposed as part of this application.

The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011

13.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan Review 2001-2011 (the adopted Local 
Plan) was adopted in May 2006. In November 2008, the Council submitted a 
listed of proposed Saved Policies to the Secretary of State with a request that 
they be saved until they could be replaced by a new Local Development 

66



Framework. The following policies were saved and are not considered to be of 
relevance to the development proposals: Policies 1.CO, 15.CO, 59.BE, 104.T, 
169.LB, 179.LB 

Emerging Local Plan Policies

Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014

14.The Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2011-2029 was submitted for examination 
in July 2014 but the Inspector concluded that insufficient housing was being 
provided for in the Plan and that it was unsound. While this has not been 
withdrawn and remains a material consideration, it can therefore be 
considered to have extremely limited weight in the determination of this 
application.

The Submitted Eastleigh Borough Local Plan 2016-2036, October 2018

15.The October 2018 Local Plan was submitted to the Secretary of State on 31st 
October 2018 with examination hearings scheduled to take place in 
November and early 2020. Given the status of the submitted plan it is 
considered that limited weight can be attributed to it, but it is a material 
planning consideration.

16.The relevant policies of both the 2011-2029 and 2016-2036 plans essentially 
echo the requirements of those of the adopted local plan as listed above and 
are not therefore considered to affect the recommendation put forward.

Supplementary Planning Documents

 Bursledon, Hamble-le-rice and Hound Character Area Appraisal SPD – 
BHH 23

 Old Bursledon Conservation Area Appraisal and Management 
Proposals SPD (February 2012)

 Supplementary Planning Document: Quality Places (November 2011)
 Supplementary Planning Document: Residential Parking Standards 

(January 2009)

National Planning Policy 

17.At a national level, The National Planning Policy Framework 2019 (the ‘NPPF’ 
or the ‘Framework’) is a material consideration of significant weight in the 
determination of planning applications. The National Planning Practice 
Guidance provides additional guidance in support of the Framework and 
should be afforded weight in the consideration of planning applications.

Assessment of Proposal 

Principle

67



18.The application site lies within an area of designated countryside where 
Saved Policy 1.CO of the Eastleigh Borough Local Plan review 2001-2011 
(the Local Plan) seeks to protect the countryside from unnecessary 
development in recognition of the importance of the countryside to agriculture, 
the landscape, the setting of settlements, for recreation and for nature 
conservation, as well as to protect the countryside for its own sake and 
prevent undue harm to its intrinsic character. 

19.Policy 15.CO allows for the use of existing building for employment purposes 
provided the criteria set out in the policy is met. 

20.The site lies within the Conservation Area where proposals should preserve or 
enhance the character or appearance of the conservation area or its setting in 
accordance with Policy 169.LB. 

21.The site lies within the Old Bursledon special policy area where policy 179.LB 
states in order to protect the special loose-knit character of Old Bursledon (as 
identified on the Proposals Map) and to ensure the retention of existing open 
areas, further development will be refused within the special policy area with 
the exception of replacement dwellings, appropriate extensions or changes of 
use, provided that these respect and enhance the character of the Special 
Policy Area. 

22.Saved Policy 59.BE of the Local Plan requires development to take full and 
proper account of the context of the site including the character and 
appearance of the locality and be appropriate in mass, scale, materials, 
layout, design and siting. It also requires a high standard of landscape design, 
a satisfactory means of access and layout for vehicles, cyclists and 
neighbouring uses through overlooking, loss of light, loss of outlook, and 
noise and fumes. Also of relevance is Policy DM1 of the Submitted Eastleigh 
Borough Local Plan 2011-2029, July 2014, which essentially reiterates the 
above requirements. 

23.Saved Policy 104.T states that planning permission will only be granted for 
appropriate development which provides off-highway parking up to the 
maximum standard set out in respect of the accessibility of that development. 
When considering the level of parking appropriate for a retail or leisure 
development in or on the edge of a centre, the Council may consider parking 
provision additional to the relevant maximum standards but only where it can 
be clearly demonstrated that it will serve the centre as a whole and assist the 
vitality and economic viability of the centre.

Planning history

24.Permission was granted under application C/16/78768 for the ground floor of 
the outbuilding at the above site to be used as office accommodation. This 
permission limited the company that could use the office accommodation, the 
hours of operation, restricted permitted developments and limited the number 
of workers in the office accommodation. The occupier utilising the office 
accommodation has ceased business and vacated the premises and the 

68



office accommodation is now vacant. There was no connection between the 
user of the office and the occupier of the dwelling. The current application 
therefore seeks the removal of condition 2 which links the office 
accommodation to the named business and the variation of condition 7 to 
remove the reference to the named business.

Removal of condition

25.The supporting statement submitted with the application states that the 
building was occupied until December 2017 in full compliance with the 
conditions and no concerns were raised over the activities by the 
neighbouring properties. The supporting statement further explains that the 
owner has a potential tenant who works on his own and his works is entirely 
office-based and does not involve any deliveries in or out of the building or 
any visitors except in very exceptional circumstances. The agent has also 
confirmed that the applicant is happy for the proposal to be made personal to 
him as the landowner, however, it is considered that such a condition would 
not be reasonable and couldn’t be justified in this case.

26.The previous application considered that the change of use to the office was 
acceptable due to the low key nature of the proposal and therefore it was 
considered necessary to condition a personal permission to the occupier of 
the building to ensure it remained low key. There was no link between the 
business occupier ‘water in a box’ and the occupier of the residential dwelling. 
The current application proposes to use the office in a similar way to the 
current permission, however, the main changes to the application would be 
the removal of the named business within the condition. This would allow for 
the user of the office to change without the requirement for further planning 
permission. As the previous application was allowed to the low key nature of 
the proposal, consideration needs to be given to whether permission without a 
named business would be appropriate.

27.The office accommodation has been used since the granting of the previous 
planning permission without formal complaints to the Council’s enforcement 
team being raised by the neighbouring properties. The office accommodation 
relates to the ground level of the building only and it is therefore considered 
that due to the size of the office accommodation the proposal is considered to 
be self-limiting in terms of the type of business that could be operated from 
the building and the number of staff that could use the building. The upper 
floor of the building is used as ancillary space by the occupier of the 
residential dwelling. 

28. It is considered that conditions could be attached to the permission to ensure 
that the office accommodation remains low key without the need for the 
business to be named within conditions 2 and 7. It is therefore considered 
reasonable to remove condition 2 and vary condition 7 of application 
C/16/78768. 

29.The previous application considered that the proposal would not impact 
detrimentally on the Conservation Area or the Old Bursledon Special Policy 

69



Area (SPA). It is considered that the proposed changes and suggested 
conditions would ensure that the proposal remains low key. No external 
changes are proposed to the building. It is therefore considered that the 
proposal is not considered to impact on the character of the Conservation 
Area. 

30.Policy 179.LB states that future development will be refused within the special 
policy area with the exception of replacement dwellings, appropriate 
extensions or changes of use, provided that these respect and enhance the 
character of the Special Policy Area. The proposed change of use of the 
building to be used by one office tenant is considered to be a low key use of 
the building. No visitors to the building are proposed and meetings are carried 
out by video conferencing. No deliveries to the site are carried out and no 
additional members of staff visit the site. It is therefore considered that the 
proposed changes to the condition would not impact on the character of the 
area or result in significant traffic movements. The proposal is therefore 
considered to comply with Policy 179.LB. 

Parking and highway matters

31.The supporting statement explains that only one additional car is used to 
access the site by the office tenant. The site has space for parking for a 
number of cars and therefore is also a three bay garage on the site. The 
previous permission considered that the proposed use was low trip generating 
and no objection was raised subject to the office being used by a single 
worker. One parking space was provided on the site for the office worker.

Impact on residential amenity 

32.The previous application considered that due to the low key nature of the 
proposed use with one officer worker, no additional staff or visitors to the site 
and no deliveries, the proposal would not cause material harm to the 
amenities of the neighbouring properties. It is considered that the same 
conditions would be applied to the current application to control the nature of 
the use on the site to ensure it does not impact on the amenities of the 
neighbouring properties. 

Conclusion

33.The amendments to the conditions as set out are not considered to result in 
any greater impact on the locality than the previously approved occupier. This 
is due to the low key nature of the business use at the application site the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable as detailed above subject to 
conditions regarding the number of staff, the use, and the hours of use and 
removal of permitted development rights. 

70



71



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 Air Quality Report
	Agenda Item 6 -Appendix AMonitoringLocations
	Agenda Item 6 -Appendix B AQMA Locations
	Agenda Item 6 -Appendix C Traffic Data

	8 Planning Application- Sundays Hill Close, Bursledon Road, Hedge End SO30 0DA - F/19/86001
	9 Planning Application - Land off the B397, Hound SO31 5FT - F/19/85302
	10 Planning Application - 30 Queens View, Netley Abbey SO31 5EA - F/19/85730
	11 Planning Application - Jenny's Cafe, High Street, Hamble-le-Rice SO31 4HA - F/19/86075
	12 Planning Application - Fairport House, Lands End Road, Bursledon SO31 8DN - X/19/85436

